

FLITWICK TOWN COUNCIL

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD MEETING HELD ON 12th December 2023 AT 7:45 PM AT THE RUFUS CENTRE

Present Cllr Blazeby (Chairman) Cllr Snape Cllr Hodges Cllr Harald Cllr Patterson

Also present: Stacie Lockey, Town Clerk Mat Earles, Business Manager Helen Glover, Senior Finance Officer

1494. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received and accepted from Cllr Roberts (work commitments) and Cllr Parsons (work commitments).

1495. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive Statutory Declarations of Interests from Members in relation to:

- (a) Disclosable Pecuniary interests in any agenda item none.
- (b) Non-Pecuniary interests in any agenda item None

1496. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

There were no announcements from the Chairman.

1497. PUBLIC OPEN SESSION

There were no members of the public in attendance.

1498. INVITED SPEAKER

There was no invited speaker.

1499. MEMBERS QUESTIONS

There were no questions from members.

1500. <u>MINUTES</u>

This item was moved to exempt.

1501. MATTERS ARISING

There were no matters arising in relation to the minutes of the Business I&DB Committee 14th November 2023.

1502. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

a. <u>Occupancy Figures</u>

Members considered the report presented by the Business Manager. The report demonstrated that the Lockyer Suite was the most rentable space within The Rufus Centre, and therefore one of the largest income assets. However, when compared with Rendezvous and other spaces within the building, has received the least amount of refurbishment. It was agreed this would have a detrimental impact of the 'saleability' of the space.

Members noted that alongside income received from hire, the space is also used frequently for Community activities e.g., lunch club, Cost of Living events etc. Members discussed the format of the Occupancy Figures report and agreed the Business Manager would review the content and presentation to ensure the report is clear and relevant.

Action: Business Manager

b. Lockyer Suite Capital Works

Members considered the presented report along with comments from previous discussions on occupancy and agreed the Lockyer Suite requires investment of funds to achieve optimum earning potential. Members agreed the primary programme of works should commence as soon as possible.

Members discussed the impact of this spending on cashflow. Cllr Snape confirmed previous discussions with the Deputy Town Clerk, demonstrated funds were available for this spending within the current financial year. Members noted that the works may cause disruption, interrupt bookings and reduce income in the short term. To minimise this impact, works will be completed during less busy periods.

Members agreed that long term investment would need to be considered once the primary programme of works are complete to effectively manage this asset.

It was **RECOMMENDED** to accept the recommendation as outlined in supporting paper for Lockyer Suite improvements with funding from the Central Project Fund at £48,654.56.

c. Branding Review – Design Brief

Members considered the presented report. It was noted the Branding Review has been an ongoing activity for the last four years with the aim of reconfiguring branding for Flitwick Town Council, The Rufus Centre, Rendezvous Café, Proud AF and Flitwick Living History. Members agreed the review would also now include a new logo and linked branding for the Town Mayor's Charity.

Members noted the review aimed to reconfigure all branding to create a series of templates which visually demonstrates overall ownership by Flitwick Town Council, along with identifying working partnerships e.g. Hubub, Ampthill for Proud AF etc. Members agreed we do not have resources internally to action the review, therefore, this would be outsourced. Consideration would also be given to the impact of the review on FTC partners.

Members discussed options of approaching local schools for designs but following review of previous attempts, it was agreed a more professional, streamlined approach was required.

It was **RECOMMENDED** to progress with the design brief presented with the addition of a logo for the Town Mayor's Charity and caveats on Proud AF and Community Fridge partnerships.

1503 ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

a. Officer Update

The new Rendezvous Café Chef, Paul Fitsell, has been in post since November. He has reviewed the existing menu and will be releasing a revised menu in January. Rendezvous Events (previously titled 'Friday Nights at Rendezvous' will also restart in January, overseen by the newly recruited Events and Functions Officer.

The countertop by the tills of Rendezvous will be extended in early 2024 to provide a larger serving area .

The Business Manager provided an update on Rufus Centre tenants: - All vacant office spaces are now advertised on the Central Bedfordshire Council portal for local businesses.

- Room 5 is now vacant.

- Room 13 has secured a new tenant.

Room 17 now has a temporary tenant in situ until end of March 2024.
Rooms 18 & 19 refurbishment is now complete and are separated but retain a adjoining door should the space be leased as one in the future.
Room 18 has secured a new tenant who will occupy the space from February. They have also paid 50% rent for December and January to secure the space.
Room 19 is vacant

The Business Manager confirmed he is reviewing options for short term, rolling monthly leases.

Officers continue to work to implement TicketSolve at the earliest possible opportunity.

Staff drinks are planned in the Rendezvous between 3.30-4.30pm on Friday 22nd December, members were welcome to join. Tenants would also be invited to join between 4.30-6pm.

Members agreed that the remainder of the Officer Update for Business I&D Board would appear in exempt at future meetings.

Action: Business Manager

1504 (a) PUBLIC OPEN SESSION

There were no members of the public in attendance

1505 (b) EXEMPT ITEMS

The following resolution will be **moved** that is advisable in the public interest that the public and press are excluded whilst the following exempt item issue is discussed.

Pursuant to section 1(2) of the public bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 Council **resolve** to exclude the public and press by reason of the confidential nature of the business about to be transacted.

12a) Minutes & Recommendations

Members **received and adopted** the minutes of the Business I&D Board held on Tuesday 14th November 2023.

12b) Finance Reports

The finance reports were noted.

- **12c)** Prioritised Forward Capital Plan Members noted the forward capital plan.
- 12d) Rufus Bonus Scheme Members discussed the Rufus Bonus Scheme. It is **RESOLVED** to proceed with option 1.

12e) 2024/25 Revised Draft Budget Members discussed the draft budget.

12f) Office Space Refurbishment

It was **RECOMMENDED** to proceed with building works to provide additional office space for MIND within the FTC Marketing Office space at a cost of £11,460.88 allocated from the Central Projects Fund.

12g) Rufus Centre Flat

Members discussed the Rufus Centre Flat. It was **RESOLVED** to instruct Officers to investigate options for the Rufus Centre flat.



FLITWICK TOWN COUNCIL

Event Booking Protocol

A guide for all event organisers wishing to hire Flitwick Town Council land to host their event. Flitwick Town Council, The Rufus Centre, Steppingley Road, Flitwick, Beds. MK45 1AH

Contents

	Introduction	
	Definitions within this Protocol	
3.	Why do FTC have an Event Booking Protocol?	2
	Who is this Protocol for?	
5.	Application Process	3
	5.1 Timescales	4
	5.2 Safety Advisory Group	4
6.	Roles and Responsibilities of the Council	4
7.	Approval of Events	5
	7.1 Calendar of Events	5
	7.2 Commercial Events	5
	7.3 Corporate Event	5
	7.4 Community Events	5
	7.5 Licences	5
	7.6 Insurance	6
	7.7 Refusal	
	7.8 Equal Opportunities	6
	7.9 Welfare	6
	Fees and Charges	
	8.1 Land Hiring Fees	6
	8.1.1 Refund of Deposits	
	8.2 Cancellation and Refunds	
	8.3 Officer Time and Administration	8
	Further Guidance	
	. Conditions of Hire	
A	PENDICIES	
	Appendix 1 – List of Flitwick Town Council Land available for Hire	••
	Appendix 2 – Event Booking Application Form	

1. Introduction

Flitwick is a thriving commuter town located halfway between Bedford and Luton.

Although it has some 15,000 (approx.) residents and a growing number of small and medium sized businesses, Flitwick still retains a "village" feel with its Village Hall, green spaces, historical buildings and beautiful woodland. This makes Flitwick a great place to live, work and visit.

The Town Centre offers a train station with links from Bedford to Brighton, bespoke shops/cafes, and a large supermarket. Residents can also enjoy the many attractions London has to offer, which is only a 50-minute train ride away by the Thameslink train service. Alternatively, Luton Airport, less than 15 miles away, acts as a gateway to an extensive choice of European City destinations and beyond.

Flitwick Town Council (FTC) welcomes event organisers to host their events in the town, which meet the Council's corporate priorities as set out in our business plan.

2. Definitions within this Protocol

Event Organiser - may be an individual or a group Public Event – a formal, organised gathering Successful Event – an event that has been delivered safely and in accordance with its aims Small Event – under 25 people Medium Event – 25-75 people Large Event – 75-150 people Major Event – 150 people or 1 day or more

3. Why does FTC have an Event Booking Protocol

This protocol has been developed to support Event Organisers and promote joint working between organisers, FTC and its contractors. It is only relevant to events taking place on FTC owned land. A list of the land that is available to hire and the scale of events that can be held can be found in **Appendix 1**.

This protocol ensures that Event Organisers and FTC will:

- Adhere to relevant legislation and byelaws of the land
- Protect the environment and landscape of the land
- Not discriminate against any group or individual
- Adhere to relevant health and safety legislation and guidance for public events in public spaces, and
- Ensure that relevant timescales and planning milestones are met in accordance with those outlined within this protocol.

Event Organisers and FTC must consider the following:

- Impact of the event on the physical and social environment of the area
- Enjoyment, safety and quality of life for residents, visitors and local businesses; and
- Financial implications

The objectives of this protocol are:

- To ensure that FTC fully meets its responsibilities in terms of relevant event legislation and guidance
- To ensure that the event is delivered safely and effectively with minimal disturbance to the local community surrounding the area
- To ensure that all the necessary infrastructure has been included allowing for the delivery of a safe and successful event that does not have a negative impact on the

Council's land or local community

- To ensure FTC receives adequate revenue for the use of its land
- To ensure that all event organisers adhere to waste reduction and maximise recycling opportunities

It is important that FTC takes into consideration the following:

- Capacity how many people/cars can fit in an area where the event is proposed
- Ecological Impact how much use can the land withstand and what type of events can be held in specific areas and whether the character of the land is altered in anyway
- Social Impacts how many people can comfortably fit in an area and what are the wider implications i.e. car parking in the town

4. Who is this Protocol for?

Anyone wishing to host an event on FTC land.

5. Application Process

All event organisers are required to complete an application form to register their interest in running an event on FTC land. Once FTC receives an application form, the Environmental Services Manager Community Services and Amenities Manager or Bookings Officer (Rufus) will go through it and ensure that all the relevant information regarding the event is completed appropriately. Once the Environmental Services Manager Community Services and Amenities Officer and/or Bookings Officer has reviewed the application form and discussed it with the Town Clerk & Senior Management Team, they will confirm to the Event Organiser any further information that is required for the application to be considered. At this point the Event Organiser will also be given a deadline for when this information needs to be submitted to FTC. Once FTC has received a completed application form, the event organiser will submit a Safety Advisory Group form to Central Bedfordshire Council for their commendations and comments. See section 5.2 Safety Advisory Group for more information on this process.

A copy of the Application Form can be found in **Appendix 2**.

Once all information has been received from the CBC's Safety Advisory Group, a recommendation will be considered by Flitwick Town Council officers.

5.1 Timescales

Below outlines when an event organiser must make initial contact with FTC<u>/Rufus</u>: Small Events = 3 months prior to the event Medium Events = 6 months prior to the event Large Events = 9 months prior to the event Major Events = 12 months prior to the event

These timescales may be changed at the discretion of the Town Clerk.

5.2 Safety Advisory Group

Large and major events will be required to go through the Safety Advisory Group (SAG) process, FTC reserve the right to refer small and medium events to go through the SAG process. The SAG enables key agencies, such as the Police, Ambulance and Fire Services as well as CBC and Event Organisers themselves, to work together to look at safety issues for any public events taking place in the town. The idea is not to discourage events in any way but to provide event organisers with support and guidance to ensure that any events are carried out safely and successfully.

Should any member of the SAG have any questions about an event, the organiser might be

asked to come along to meet the group so that any issues can be discussed, and the organiser can ask for advice from the members - there is such a wide range of skills and experience available within the CBC Events Safety Advisory Group.

6. Roles and Responsibilities of the Council

FTC has the responsibility to approve any event taking place on its land in accordance with this protocol. Our Community-<u>Services Officer Team and/or Bookings Team</u> will liaise directly with event organisers and all necessary parties to ensure that these events are feasible, viable and safe.

The Officers will:

- Assess the Event Application Form
- Liaise with the Event Organiser throughout the process and ensure they are kept informed
- Assess all accompanying event paperwork; Event Management Plans, Risk Assessments and Event Safety Plans
- Liaise with necessary parties regarding the event, such as councillors, grounds maintenance, residents etc.
- Where deemed necessary, undertake a site visit during set-up and de-rig to ensure all
 conditions are being met according to this protocol and/or any information specifically
 detailed during the planning process. Officers may also visit the site during the event to
 check that the event is working in line with the conditions of hire.
- Issue a licence/condition of hire to the Event Organiser and ensure that this is being adhered to

7. Approval of Events

As set out above, The <u>Community Environmental</u> Services Team will take a decision to approve delivery of events on FTC land. The following will be considered when considering granting permission.

7.1 Calendar of Events

FTC will check availability based on whether the land is already in use or if there are any other events taking place in the town on the days requested.

All events must follow the timescale provided in section 5: *Application Process* and submit all required paperwork within this timescale.

7.2 Commercial Events

Organisers for Commercial Events must approach FTC in their pre-planning stage and ensure that they follow the timescales and submission requirements prior to advertising the event.

All commercial events will be charged a fee to hire the land for use of the event. Fees and details can be found in section 8: *Fees and Charges*.

FTC reserve the right to stop any commercial event taking place on their land, at any time, if it does not abide to the points highlighted within this protocol and at the discretion of officers, to that which was applied for.

FTC reserve the right to waive fees at their discretion.

7.3 Corporate Event

Applications for corporate events, which are not open to the public, will be approved on an individual basis and subject to individually negotiated fees and charges. FTC reserves the right not to approve any private events, at any time, without justification.

7.4 Community Events

Events that are being held for the community to enjoy, with no entry fee, will be assessed based on the nature of the event, whether it is for the whole community or a specific group, the size of the event and the type of activities that are being offered. FTC reserve the right not to approve any event they feel is not appropriate for the community.

7.5 Licences

It is essential that all event organisers have the relevant licences for the type of activities being delivered as part of their event. Some activities that previously required a licence were deregulated in 2014 as a result of amendments to the 2003 Act by the Live Music Act 2012 and the 2013 Order. The Event organiser will be required to submit relevant licenses.

7.6 Insurance

It is essential that all event organisers have the relevant insurance cover to indemnify them and FTC against any civil action as a direct result of something that happens at their event. This must be Public Liability Insurance and should be obtained through a reputable company.

All major events must be covered by £10 million Public Liability Insurance. All other events must be covered by £5 million Public Liability Insurance. Dependant on the nature of the event and the organisation delivering it, Employer's Liability Insurance may also be required.

7.7 Refusal

In the event that an application is submitted by an event organiser who has previously failed to abide by conditions of approval and timescales granted by the Council, new applications will be rejected unless clear steps have been taken to rectify and follow procedures with the new application.

7.8 Equal Opportunities

All event organisers must provide services and facilities that comply with the Equalities Act 2010. It is the responsibility of the event organiser to ensure that any staff and/or volunteers working on the event have received relevant training in equal opportunities.

7.9 Welfare

All event organisers are responsible for the welfare of staff and members of the public that attend their event. Event organisers will ensure that staff and/or volunteers that are on the front line of the event have received the relevant training in dealing with children, young people and vulnerable adults. The event organiser will ensure that good practice guidelines and recommendations are followed at all times and staff and/or volunteers undergo a DBS check where appropriate. Event organisers shall also be responsible for the welfare of any animals that are part of the event.

8 Fees and Charges

All fees and charges are at the discretion of the Council. Fees are based on size of the event, type of event and length of event, including set-up and de-rig time. Fees are charged per event.

8.1 Land Hiring Fees

Below is a guide to land hiring fees:

Event Size	ONE DAY ONLY (£)	Set up/Pack Down Days (£)	Subsequent Days (£)	Deposit
Small (under 25 people)	£15 per hour	n/a	n/a	n/a
Medium (25-75 people)	£75	n/a	n/a	£35
Large (75-150 people)	£150	n/a	n/a	£250
Major (over 150 people or 1 day or more)	£300	£200	£50	£500
Indoor Toilet Hire for The Rufus Centre	£15 per hour	n/a	n/a	n/a
Football Pitch Hire (Rufus Centre/Hinksley Road)	Price upon request	n/a	n/a	n/a
Rufus Corporate Events	£500	Price upon request	Price upon request	£250

Hirers that wish to establish a new regular event such as an exercise class, and in FTC's opinion are providing a benefit to the community, may be offered a discounted rate for consecutive bookings (only applicable for small sized events up to 25 people).

Fees are payable, along with a deposit <u>payment</u> for the <u>cheques set out in the</u> section below, when agreement has been obtained for the event to take place. If the full fees and deposits have not been received within 1 month to the date of the event, the Council reserve the right to withdraw their acceptance of the event and granted permissions.

8.1.1 Refund of Deposits

I

On completion of a successful event, the deposit cheques payment will be returned to the event organiser (minus any deductions appropriate), within 30 days of the event date, unless there are mitigating circumstances or other charges are unpaid.

8.2 Cancellation and Refunds

If an event is cancelled more than 1 month prior to the event date, fees and deposit cheques payments-will be returned in full.

If an event is cancelled within 1 month of the event date the Council reserves the right to retain 50% of the hire fees and charges.

8.3 Officer Time and Administration

Certain events that may require additional officer time will be charged accordingly. This will be pre-agreed with the organiser at an hourly rate of $\pounds 16.00$.

9 Further Guidance

Once applications have been assessed the FTC may advise event organisers of aspects for their event which require further guidance and/or action. These may include:

Compliance with the CBC Safety Advisory Group

- Health and Safety
- Road Closures and Traffic Orders
- Power supply
- Licences
- Catering and Food Hygiene
- Noise
- Animal Welfare
- Fireworks
- Any specific activities within the proposed programme

Please note: this list is not exhaustive and there may be other aspects which arise dependant on the event

It is also important that the event organiser carries out the relevant risk assessments, standards and fire assessments. Support can be provided by FTC with writing these documents and will be subject to the administration charges outlined within section 8.3: *Officer Time and Administration* where relevant.

There are also a number of other considerations that FTC require the event organiser to manage as part of their event. These include:

- Marketing and Promotion
- Signage
- Traffic Management and Car Parking
- Welfare and Sanitation

Event organisers are encouraged to refer to The Purple Guide for health, safety and welfare at events. FTC will refer to this guide if necessary and event organisers will be expected to adhere to these guidelines. This guide can be viewed at <u>www.thepurpleguide.co.uk</u>

10 Conditions of Hire

set out within the agreement itself.

The Environmental Community Services and Amenities Manager and/or Bookings Offcier Manager will liaise with the event organiser regarding the conditions of hire and if necessary, issue an agreement between FTC and the event organiser. FTC reserves the right to immediate termination of the agreement if at any time the event organiser breaches any aspect

Appendix 1 – A list of FTC land available to hire:

Area of Land	
Rufus Centre	
Millennium Park	
Hinksley Playing Field	
Station Road Field	
3 Station Road	

Appendix 2 – Event Booking Application Form

Event Booking Application Form

This form is to be used by event organisers wishing to host an event on land owned by Flitwick Town Council. It should be completed at the earliest opportunity and returned to <u>Susaneldred@flitwick.gov.uk or Bookings@therufuscentre.co,uk-stacielockey@flitwick.gov.uk</u>

Please ensure that you have read and understood the Event Booking Protocol which accompanies this form.

Event Details

Event Title	
Proposed Date for Event	
Proposed Start and Finish Times for Event	
Proposed Location for Event	
Set Up and De-Rig Dates and Times	
Type of Event	
Nature of Event	
Event Audience (number of people and target audience)	
Brief Overview of Event	

Is there a charge to the public to take part in the event?

Organisers Details

Name			
Organisation			
Are you a charity / non- profit organisation?	Yes	No	
Email			
Telephone			

Declaration

I confirm that the information contained within this document is accurate and correct to the best of my knowledge.

I understand that I cannot hold the event on land owned by Flitwick Town Council without prior agreement and the necessary paperwork being submitted according to the Council's Event Booking Protocol.

I understand that the responsibility for safety at my/our event remains solely with the event organiser.

Print name	
Role within the Event	
Signed	
Date	

Please return your completed application to <u>stacielockey@flitwick.gov.uk.</u> <u>susaneldred@flitwick.gov.uk or bookings@therufuscentre.co.uk</u> If you require any support or information regarding your application please phone 01525 631900.

Field Code Changed